NORTH CAROLINA STATE UNIVERSITY CLINATE ACTION PLAN December 1, 2010

Document Prepared By: UNIVERSITY SUSTAINABILITY OFFICE & CAMPUS ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY TEAM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary

1. A Climate For Change

2. Planning For the Future

3. Understanding Abatement

4. GHG Emissions Today & Tomorrow

5. Creating A Path Towards Neutrality

> 5.1 Near-Term Portfolio

5.2 Long-Term Portfolio

5.3 Role of Offsets

6. Continuing The Journey Forward

7. Cultivating Change

8. Maintaining Momentum

Appendices



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The first Climate Action Plan (CAP) for North Carolina State University (NC State) is one way to infuse sustainability into the essence of the institution. In 2008, NC State became a signatory of the American College and University Presidents Climate Commitment (ACUPCC), a national pledge of those at colleges and universities to both recognize the climate impact of their campuses and work to reduce their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The CAP is the result of collaborative efforts among staff members, faculty members, students, and third-party engineering and economic experts. The purpose is to create goals and strategies that will help NC State reduce GHG emissions and ultimately the potential impact on the environment.

The overall goal regarding potential climate impact at NC State is to achieve climate neutrality by 2050. The first step to achieving neutrality is understanding the potential impact that current and future GHG emissions have. The next step is to lay the groundwork for change by exploring available opportunities. Lastly, is to implement strategies and monitor and measure progress. The purpose of the CAP is to create a framework and provide supporting information to assist in decision-making.

NC State's portfolio contains a variety of strategies, that if implemented would help lead NC State towards climate neutrality. The first iteration of the plan focuses on strategies developed for implementation in the near-term, or within the next five years. The five year strategies in the CAP could result in approximately a 20% GHG reduction from 2008 levels by 2015. Similar strategies are grouped into categories, referred to as wedges. The wedges chosen for the CAP are: green development, energy conservation, fuel mix and renewables, transportation, and waste management. The plan also examines how some of the larger, long-term changes to existing infrastructure might impact the University's GHG emissions. Sustainability, climate impact, and energy are themes for creating synergy in planning efforts. The process utilized the Campus Environmental Sustainability Team (CEST) and associated working groups to provide ideas, feedback, and insight. The CAP, along with the Strategic Energy Management Plan, are supporting documents for the Sustainability Strategic Plan. All three plans compliment each other and a streamlined tracking of progress moving forward ensures goals are met on a broad sustainability scale. Implementation measures will include establishing specific tactical steps, responsible parties, and performance metrics.

Though many of the strategies proposed to mitigate carbon emissions on campus require physical modifications to buildings and infrastructure, an equally important goal is the need for a culture change related to how the campus community views natural resources. Including sustainability at the core of the University's identity will require creating a new culture of sustainability. This culture is guided by principles that place sustainability as a priority at NC State. In turn, creating the new culture of sustainability requires recognition of a new community at the University. This community will operate with students, faculty and staff as largely independent groups as a collaborative community who plans for the sustainable future of NC State.

The creation of the CAP is one of the first steps on the journey towards climate neutrality. The University now has a road map for which to help guide decision-making and planning into the future. NC State is already making significant headway in many of the identified strategies. Each of these efforts is moving NC State closer to climate neutrality. Climate neutrality by 2050 is possible through maintaining momentum and realizing reductions today while continuing to plan for the future.

1. A CLIMATE FOR CHANGE

There are many important reasons for creating a Climate Action Plan (CAP). In 2008, NC State University became a signatory of the American College and University Presidents' Climate Commitment (ACUPCC), a national pledge of those at colleges and universities to both recognize the climate impact of their campuses and work to reduce their greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The commitment includes creation of a comprehensive plan to achieve climate neutrality, tangible actions to complete while the plan is being developed and to make the inventories, plan and progress reports publicly available. More specifically, the commitment asks that campuses work to achieve climate neutrality as soon as possible.

The overall goal regarding potential climate impact at NC State is to achieve neutrality by 2050. "For purposes of the ACUPCC, climate neutrality is defined as having no net greenhouse gas emissions, to be achieved by eliminating net GHG emissions, or by minimizing GHG emissions as much as possible, and using carbon offsets or other measures to mitigate the remaining emissions."¹ In the most simple approach, reducing GHG emissions to zero would allow the University to attain climate neutrality. GHG emissions are directly tied to fossil fuel combustion needed to provide electricity, heating, cooling, transportation, and other services.

The first step to achieving climate neutrality is understanding the impact that current and potential future GHG emissions have. The next step is to lay the groundwork for change by exploring available opportunities. Lastly, is to implement strategies and monitor and measure progress. The purpose of the CAP is to create a framework and provide supporting information to assist in decision making.

¹ACUPCC website - http://www.presidentsclimatecommitment.org/about/faqs#10

2. PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE

Sustainability, climate impact, and energy are themes for creating synergy in planning efforts. The CAP serves as a supporting document to the Sustainability Strategic Plan². Additionally, the Strategic Energy Management Plan³ offers specific information in focus areas that directly relate to the CAP. Ultimately, the goal is to strengthen the development of each plan through collaboration.

An essential component to the success of any large University planning effort is to garner the support and involvement of the campus community. The CAP sought to incorporate the valuable input and expertise the campus has to offer. The plan utilized the expertise and participation of a diverse group of students, staff members, faculty members, subject matter experts, consultants, and interested parties (**Appendix A**). More specifically, the process involved the Campus Environmental Sustainability Team (CEST) and associated working groups to provide ideas, feedback, and insight. Working group participation is open to anyone and thus input was gained from students, staff members, faculty members, and community members.

The following are the CEST working groups:

- ----> Academics and Research
- -----> Buildings
- COMMUNICATIONS
- -----> Energy and Water
- ---> Land Use
- Materials Management and Purchasing
- TRANSPORTATION
- WASTE REDUCTION AND RECYCLING

A group of consultants facilitated the CAP development process. The lead firm Affiliated Engineers, Inc., along with subconsultants Energy Strategies and Martin/Alexiou/Bryson created a team of subject matter experts to perform the information collection and analysis. The experience of the consultant team in creating climate action plans for other universities assisted in the development of a comprehensive and usable end product.

²Sustainability Strategic Plan - http://sustainability.ncsu.edu ³Strategic Energy Management Plan - http://sustainability.ncsu.edu The plan development process began with engaging each of the working groups to generate ideas for ways that NC State could mitigate GHG emissions. The working groups used fiveyear sustainability strategies developed for the Sustainability Strategic Plan as a starting point.Each group thought about their area of focus from a carbon management lens and looked forward to the 2050 time frame. The consultants grouped a list of more than 200 ideas into themes to create the strategies to consider for the CAP. The consultants also gave suggestions of strategies that would have a positive effect on GHG emissions.

The list of ideas for reducing GHG emissions was qualitatively evaluated by the working groups based on potential GHG impact as well as assessed based upon broader sustainability considerations. The evaluation results helped to condense the remaining ideas and categorize by theme. The result of this evaluation was a shorter list of items that was given a more quantitative evaluation for inclusion in the final GHG reduction portfolio, or compilation of strategies that can be utilized in the future.

In total, 30 strategies were analyzed and considered for the University's GHG reduction portfolio. The next step was a detailed financial and GHG analysis of each of the 30 ideas using technical GHG and financial metrics. The modeling took into account the start up and operational costs, the impact of climate related legislation and the overall impact on GHG emissions of each individual strategy. After the assumptions for each strategy were verified, the model provided detailed information that was used to help select the strategies for the GHG reduction portfolio. The information was organized into a graph called an abatement curve that shows both the cost and GHG reduction of each of the 30 strategies (Appendix D). From this information, 17 strategies were selected and endorsed by CEST to create the GHG reduction portfolio. The final step was the creation of the CAP document to help give an overview of the opportunity NC State has to reduce potential climate impact.

3. UNDERSTANDING ABATEMENT

In order to have a frame of reference for carbon abatement, It is necessary to understand a variety of terms, acronyms and concepts (**Appendix B**). GHG emissions are measured in terms of metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent, or MTCDE. The convention is to use the equivalent of a metric ton of carbon dioxide for equating the environmental impacts of other greenhouse gases. Due to this metric, oftentimes the word carbon is used interchangeably with the term GHG. One metric, MTCDE, measures six greenhouse gases including carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, sulfur hexafluoride, hydrofluorocarbons and per-fluorocarbons based on their relative global warming potential. GHG emissions are categorized into scopes. Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions from the University and include items such as fuels and refrigerants. Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions from purchased electricity, which in NC State's case is from Progress Energy Carolina, Inc. Scope 3 emissions are also indirect emissions from activities such as commuting, air travel, and waste disposal.

The hierarchy of carbon management is important to understand (**Figure 1**). The first priority is to avoid carbon intensive activities where possible, such as walking as opposed to driving. Next is to reduce carbon emissions by being more energy efficient. The third priority is to replace high-carbon energy sources with low-carbon sources, such as the use of natural gas instead of petroleum. Lastly, is to offset any emissions that were not eliminated by one of the previously mentioned techniques.

Another important consideration is that future legislation on the federal or state level could regulate GHG emissions. Any carbon related legislation would apply a price to carbon. If so, the costs and benefits of GHG abatement shift.

The boundaries of both the GHG inventory and the CAP are also important to understand when considering the opportunities for reducing climate impact. The CAP deals specifically with the emissions and boundaries calculated in the 2008 GHG inventory as a baseline. For the first iteration of the plan, embodied energy is not addressed but rather the focus is on the items identified in the GHG inventory. Embodied energy accounts for the energy used in the full lifecycle of an item, from production to transportation to disposal.

1. Avoid

carbon-intensive activities

2. Reduce

Do whatever you do more efficiently

3. Replace

Replace high-carbon energy sources with low carbon energy ones

4. Offset

Offset those emissions that cannot be eliminated by the above.

FIGURE 1.

A carbon management hierarchy prioritizes abatement activities.

4. GHG EMISSIONS TODAY & TOMORROW

Three campuses and over 100 satellite offices comprise NC State which amounts to over 15 million square feet with a population of over 39,900. The inaugural 2008 GHG Inventory⁴ included the three campuses (Main, Centennial, and Centennial Biomedical) as well as satellite offices for which NC State manages the utility accounts. The other satellite offices not included have their utility accounts managed by another unit and are a joint endeavor between NC State and North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University.

The time frame and methodology for the GHG inventory varied slightly depending on the type of information collected. Scopes 1 and 2 emissions are based on the calendar year 2008 for the possible implementation of federal or state requirements. Scope 3 emissions are based on fiscal year 2007 – 2008, since most University departments track their records on the fiscal calendar. The calculations for Scopes 1 and 2 are based on The Climate Registry and Scope 3 utilized Clean Air Cool Planet's Campus Carbon Calculator version 6 and Atmosfair's website for air travel.

The GHG Inventory created the baseline of emissions, at 270,069 MTCDE (**Table 1**). The 2008 inventory shows the majority of GHG emissions from the University are direct emissions from natural gas combustion and indirect emissions from electricity consumption and commuting (**Figure** 2). Scope 1 emissions account for 32% of the total and Scope 2 comprise 53% of the total emissions. The inventory did reveal one carbon offset attributable to composting of yard waste.

⁴2008 NC State GHG Inventory - sustainability.ncsu.edu

TABLE 1

Emissions totals from the 2008 GHG inventory displayed by scope and source.

2008 GHG Inventory Summary

Scope	Source	Emissions (MTCDE)	Emissions (%)
Scope 1	Natural Gas	60,956	22.57%
	Refrigerants	15,500	5.74%
	Emergency Generators	3,631	1.34%
	Fuel Oil	3,533	1.31%
	Vehicle (Gas)	2,249	0.83%
	Vehicle (Biodiesel)	580	0.21%
	Fertilizers	11	0.00%
Scope 2	Electricity	143,494	53.13%
Scope 3	Commuting	32.060	11.87%
	Air Travel	7,330	2.71%
	Solid Waste	1,194	0.44%
	Wastewater	95.3	0.04%
	Paper Purchasing	1	0.001%
Offsets	Composting	(568)	-0.21%
Total		270,069	100.00%



FIGURE 2

Percentage contribution of 2008 NC State GHG emissions by scope and source. In order to begin planning towards climate neutrality, it is essential to understand what the University's emissions will be if no measures are taken to mitigate them. The next step in the process is to project the expected GHG emissions over time in a Business As Usual (BAU), or 'do-nothing', scenario. Essentially, this means estimating future emissions if the University were to continue operating with today's business practices. Available data were collected for growth in the campus population (**Appendix C, Figure 6**). The population of the campus drove the projected growth of the campus area (**Appendix C, Figure** 7). Reasonable assumptions were made to take the projected growth and apply the associated energy usage (**Appendix C,** **Figure 8**). The end result is the projected GHG emissions for the University through 2050 (**Figure 3**). Over the next 40 years, if NC State were to continue in a business as usual scenario, the campus's GHG emissions could rise to almost 400,000 MTCDE. As with NC State's current GHG emissions, the primary sources would be natural gas, purchased electricity and commuting in a BAU scenario. These projections were based on assumptions derived from available data and require revisions over time to create an accurate look at future emissions.



FIGURE 3

GHG emissions by scope in a "Business As Usual" scenario through the year 2050.

5. CREATING A PATH TOWARDS NEUTRALITY

The development of NC State's GHG reduction portfolio is one of the primary drivers for the creation of a CAP. The portfolio incorporates various criteria such as GHG impact, cost, and feasibility, then displays the collective potential impact of selected strategies over time. NC State's GHG reduction portfolio contains a variety of strategies that, if implemented, would help lead NC State towards climate neutrality.

5.1 Near-Term Portfolio

The CAP is based on a long-term goal of reaching climate neutrality by 2050. For the first iteration of the plan, the focus is on strategies that can begin implementation in the near term, or within the next five years. The near-term portfolio in the CAP could result in approximately a 20% GHG emissions reduction from 2008 levels by 2015. The collective impact of near-term strategies on the GHG emissions of NC State through the year 2050 is illustrated in **Figure 4**. The red line at the top represents the projected GHG emissions in a BAU scenario and the blue line at the bottom represents the University's emissions after abatement. The wedges correspond with those in **Table 2** and capture the GHG reduction potential over the next 40 years. Though all of the wedges are equally important, it is apparent that the near-term strategies within the 'Energy Conservation' wedge offer the largest opportunity for GHG reduction. In addition, the 'Grid Footprint Change' wedge represents the benefit the University would receive from Progress Energy as they lessen GHG emissions within their energy supply. The dark grey section, Future Technologies, represents the remaining GHG emissions NC State might have to abate in order to reach neutrality by 2050. The



Metric Tons of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent (MTCDE)

The carbon reduction of the near-term portfolio by wedge through 2050 shows the impact of five-year strategies over the next 40 years. A full description of the near-term portfolio wedges and corresponding strategies can be found in Table 2. Future technologies are fully discussed in section 5.2 and in Appendix E.

14

FIGURE 4

TABLE 2.

The near-term portfolio wedge table provides descriptions of wedges and corresponding strategies.

Wedges

GREEN DEVELOPMENT

Carbon reduction opportunities in space utilization, both inside and out, how buildings are constructed, and how land is managed

ENERGY CONSERVATION

Opportunities for reducing energy usage on campus

Strategies

Green Building

Gains from compliance with the US Green Building Council's Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design Silver standard as well as NC Session Law 2007-546 on new campus buildings **Space Planning and Management** Opportunities for efficiencies in space allocation and use on campus

Grounds Management

The use of sustainable materials, equipment, and practices when maintaining the campus landscape

Conservation Outreach/Behavior Change

Opportunities available from changing energy use habits by the campus community
Energy Conservation Measures (ECMs)
21 different measures for reducing energy use in existing buildings
Green Information Technology (IT)
Conservation efforts that are possible within the IT infrastructure and management on campus

FUEL MIX & RENEWABLES

Opportunities for reducing GHG emissions in the University's energy supply

Combined Heat and Power Plant at Cates

More efficient source of energy for central campus New Boilers at Yarbrough Plant Efficiencies in the production of steam New Electric Chiller at Cates Plant Efficiencies in the production of chilled water Solar Photovoltaics – Buildings Utilize the sun's energy and convert it to electricity for buildings Solar Hot Water Uses the suns energy to heat the water needed for a building Geoexchange Use of the earth's constant temperature to reduce the energy use intensity on a building level

TRANSPORTATION

Opportunities for reducing GHG emissions related to how people get to, from and around campus **Campus Fleet**

Conversion of vehicle types and fuel types as well as reduced usage of fuels needed for on campus travel **Improved Commuting**

Options to reduce GHG emissions from employee and student commuting to and from campus and includes increased reliance on carpooling, transit, walking, biking, and telecommuting

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Opportunities to reduce the amount of solid waste the University sends to the landfill

 Waste Source Reduction

 Reducing the amount of materials used on campus thereby reducing the amount of waste product

 Waste Diversion

 Diverting waste through an increase in recycling and re-use efforts

 *Composting

 Diversion and re-use of organic materials on campus

(*Offers the opportunity for a carbon offset.)

near-term strategies could lower GHG emissions to approximately half of what they may be 40 years from now in the BAU scenario. An important reminder is that the near-term portfolio represents the opportunities for GHG reduction in the future using the information and technology that are available today.

In order to best communicate the specific types of GHG reduction the University is considering, like strategies were grouped into categories, referred to as wedges. The wedges chosen for the CAP are: green development, energy conservation, fuel mix and renewables, transportation and waste management. Each wedge is comprised of strategies that were chosen because they are cost-effective methods for reducing GHG emissions. Additionally, many of the strategies within each wedge are simply general themes to help describe various projects and programs. **Table 2** details the wedges and 17 strategies that together comprise the near-term portfolio for the CAP. NC State will work to advance the strategies in the portfolio at every opportunity as they offer the best current solutions to creating a real reduction in climate impact.

5.2 Long-Term Portfolio

Given that the CAP covers a 40 year time line, the certainty of the University's actions, and the impact of those actions, on GHG levels become less accurate the farther out the projection. Updates to future emissions, actual and projected, as well as the availability, viability, cost and potential impact of future technologies are necessary to effectively manage the University's impact moving forward.

As shown in **Figure 4**, the dark grey section entitled 'Future Technologies' represents the remaining emissions NC State will have to abate in order to reach neutrality by 2050. However, it is possible to broadly look at how some of the potential larger, long-term changes to existing infrastructure might impact GHG emissions. The CAP developed long-term portfolio paths that are not deemed feasible in the near term, but are considerations for the future. Generally these strategies are some of the less proven and future technologies which, at this time, would require significantly more capital.

The long-term portfolio paths developed for the CAP primarily involve the use of alternative sources of energy and the associated changes and/or upgrades to existing campus infrastructure. The three modeled long-term alternatives include: biomass gasification for steam production at Centennial and Centennial Biomedical campuses, solid waste plasma gasification with cogeneration at Centennial and Centennial Biomedical campuses, and a replacement energy source for all of the natural gas currently used on main campus (**Appendix E, Figures 10-12**).

5.3 Role of Offsets

According to the carbon management hierarchy discussed previously, offsetting of GHG emissions ideally occurs after all other abatement opportunities have been realized. The ACUPCC defines carbon offsets as a real reduction, sequestration, destruction, or avoidance of GHG emissions that must be measured and quantified, and originate from projects or activities outside the boundary of a regulatory program or an entity's carbon foot print⁵. "Offsets are created through financial support of projects that reduce the emission of greenhouse gases."

"Offsets should be regarded as one GHG emissions investment opportunity among a diverse portfolio of options that will contribute to North Carolina State University achieving climate neutrality over the long term⁶." Many other college and university climate action plans are utilizing offsets to help reach their climate neutrality commitment. Alternately, NC State has chosen not to place the focus on offsets but rather to rely on the impact of near term strategies and the ability of future technologies and alternatives to provide the opportunities for reaching climate neutrality. This approach not only helps prioritize the near term strategies over offsets, but also allows the University to more easily take advantage of utilizing emerging technologies.

⁵The American College and University Presidents Cimate Commitment document, "investing in Carbon Offsets: Guidelines for ACUPCC Institutions" November 2008 v1.0 ⁶Energy Strategies document "Role of Offets in Meeting North Carolina State University's Climate Neutrality Commitment, June 2010

6. CONTINUING THE JOURNEY FORWARD

The creation of the CAP is one of the first steps on the journey towards climate neutrality. The University now has a road map for which to help guide decision making and planning into the future. However, the implementation of the proposed strategies and goals are ultimately the means for reducing GHG emissions at NC State.

The CAP projects approximately a 20% GHG reduction from 2008 emissions by 2015 based on the near-term portfolio implementation. This 20% reduction is equal to 84,111 MTCDE over the next five years. **Figure 5** details the percent contribution by wedge to the total reduction in 2015. Similar to the overall reduction portfolio, the focus of the next five years is on energy conservation and fuel mix and renewables. NC State is making significant headway in many of the near term strategies. A large number of projects and programs are already being developed and implemented. **Table 3** provides examples of projects and programs that are currently underway in each of wedge groups. These success stories are proof that NC State's efforts are moving in the right direction and already reducing GHG emissions. Development of additional initiatives continue as a part of the overall sustainability planning and within the daily operations of the University. Each of these efforts is moving NC State closer to climate neutrality.



FIGURE 5

Percent of total emissions reduction in 2015 by wedge of a 84,511 MTCDE total reduction.

100% = 84,511 MTCDE

The CAP, along with the Strategic Energy Management Plan, are supporting documents for the Sustainability Strategic Plan. All three plans compliment each other. The five-year sustainability strategies were the basis for the CAP strategies and each of the 41 focus areas of the Strategic Energy Management Plan are directly tied to the CAP. A streamlined tracking of progress moving forward ensures goals are met on a broad sustainability scale. Implementation measures will include establishing specific tactical steps, responsible parties and performance metrics. The CAP is not a static document. Rather, it allows for updates and changes over time. As new GHG inventories are performed, new technologies developed and new opportunities available, the strategies and goals within the plan will change. Detailed revisions to the technical analysis and modeling are required in the future in order to continue the CAP as a usable tool. The first iteration of the plan created a framework for planning and progressing NC State towards climate neutrality.

TABLE 3

Examples of projects and programs currently underway.

Wedges

GREEN DEVELOPMENT

Projects & Programs

Various green building *initiatives such as the US Green Building Council's Leadership in Energy and Efficient Design (LEED) Silver buildings are both under construction and in design.*

Efforts towards improved *space planning continue with the addition of a staff position to help analyze and implement space utilization standards.*

ENERGY CONSERVATION

A variety of *energy conservation measures* (ECMs) *are the result of a 13 building performance contract.*

A major campaign, called 'Change Your State' is launching targeting energy conservation on campus through behavior change.

FUEL MIX & RENEWABLES

Plans for installing *a combined heat and power system at the Cates Plant are underway.*

Solar Photovoltaics *planned for installation at the Centennial Campus Keystone Science Center and the Flex Laboratory Building.*

A solar domestic hot water system recently installed at *Carmichael Gymnasium*.

TRANSPORTATION A co

A comprehensive bike *and pedestrian plan is being developed for the University.*

A bicycle rental program, called WolfWheels recently launched.

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Walkway recycling bins are being added across campus.

Food waste is now being composted at all University dining halls.

7. CULTIVATING CHANGE

Though many of the strategies proposed to mitigate carbon emissions on campus require physical modifications to buildings and infrastructure, an equally important goal is the need for a culture change related to how the campus community views natural resources. The behavior change required to reduce GHG emissions will be part of a larger culture change that embraces sustainability. The vision for growing the intellectual and scholastic scope of the University while using fewer resources is within the grasp of current and emerging technologies, but will require fundamental change that reflects new priorities and actions. All activities, programs, and investments advance the capacity of the University to accomplish its future missions. Therefore, in the broadest sense, the University commits to sustainability with all of its actions. Including sustainability at the core of the University's identity will require creating a new culture of sustainability. The new culture is guided by the principles below.

Guiding Principles for the Culture of Sustainability

- The Provost and Vice Chancellor for Finance and Business are responsible for guiding activities and investments to advance sustainability.
- *Planning for sustainability involves students, faculty members, and staff members.*
- Planning for sustainability includes diversity including ethnicity, race, national origin, age, gender, sexual orientation, socioeconomic background, religion, and disability.

- All viewpoints, suggestions, and opinions are welcome and treated with respect.
- The University advances sustainability with fiscal responsibility and social equity.

Δ

5

ĥ

7

- The University advances sustainability with activities and investments that reflect the value of the institution, recognizing that costs provide benefits that extend far beyond its campus.
- All campus development, growth, and modification will include sustainability as a factor.
- Advancing sustainability includes University-wide commitments as well as commitments of individual action.
- Sustainability planning exemplifies the interdependence of working across multiple systems, fields, and sectors.

Creating the new culture of sustainability requires recognition of a new community at NC State. Historically, the University operated with students, faculty members, and staff members as largely independent groups. Each of the groups has different needs, responsibilities, interests, and values. Over the past several years, the need to advance sustainability has brought students, faculty members and staff members together to form the new foundations for a University community capable of planning for the future.

8.MAINTAINING MOMENTUM

In many ways, the end of a successful planning project is marked by a realization that the effort is already moving in the right direction. This notion speaks to the fact that the progress made while creating a plan is often as important as the plan itself. Together, the Sustainability Strategic Plan, the Strategic Energy Management Plan and the CAP have opened the door to the opportunities for and the successes in reducing NC State's climate impact.

NC State is indeed making strides toward reducing GHG emissions. The GHG reduction portfolio produced by the CAP contained numerous projects and initiatives that were already underway. The CAP and supporting information not only bolsters these efforts but provides an additional resource for making informed decisions well into the future. Climate neutrality by 2050 is possible through maintaining momentum and realizing reductions today while continuing to plan for the future.

The road to neutrality requires NC State to advance the strategies within the GHG reduction portfolio at every opportunity. Comprehensive analysis revealed that the portfolio offers cost-effective and feasible solutions to achieving real reductions in GHG emissions. The near-term portfolio in the CAP could result in approximately a 20% GHG emissions reduction from 2008 levels by 2015. The near-term strategies within the green development, energy conservation, fuel mix and renewables, transportation, and waste management wedges create a framework for continued GHG reduction at NC State.

In addition to physical and operational modifications, a culture change related to how the campus community views natural resources is required. Including sustainability at the core of the University's identity will require creating a new culture of sustainability. This culture is guided by principles that place sustainability as a priority at NC State. In turn, creating the new culture of sustainability requires recognition of a new community at the University. This community operates with students, faculty members and staff members as a collaborative community who plans for the sustainable future of NC State.

Though NC State is gaining momentum in the right direction, a challenging road lies ahead in order to reach the goal of climate neutrality by 2050. Changes must occur in every aspect of how the university carries out its mission of learning, discovery, and engagement. The University must build on successes and continually work to find creative solutions to current and emerging issues. The Climate Action Plan is the roadmap to lead NC State towards climate neutrality.

PPENDICES Contributors

CAP COORDINATION/ WRITING: Lindsay Batchelor University Sustainability Office

Advisory/Editorial

Jack Colby Facilities Operations David Dean University Sustainability Office **Tracy Dixon** University Sustainability Office **Jeff Hightower** Utilities Infrastructure Planning Paul McConocha Energy Management William Winner Environmental Sciences Academic Program

PROJECT MANAGER: Steve Bostian Capital Projects Management

DESIGN AND LAYOUT: *Alison Citron University Sustainability Office*

CONSULTANT TEAM AFFILIATED ENGINEERS, INC: John Carter, Project Manager Jeannette LeBoyer, LEED AP Scott Parker, PE, LEED AP Jerry Schuett, PE ENERGY STRATEGIES: Rob McKenna Justin Farr Nick Travis Jeff Burks Marian Bonar

MARTIN/ALEXIOU/ BRYSON: Nathaniel Grier, PE Don Bryson, PE

CEST AND WORKING GROUP MEMBERS

Thank you to the students, faculty members, staff members, and community partners that helped make the CAP process a success. The individuals represent approximately 65 campus and community departments and units who participated in the CEST working groups.

Mahomet Accilien Energy Management Carole Acquesta Capital Projects Management Joanie Aitken University Payroll BJ Attarian Office of Information Technology Bill Beardall Grounds Management **Todd Becker** Environmental Health & Safety Scott Beck College of Natural Resources Kofi Boone College of Design **Robert Borden** College of Engineering **Tuere Bowles** College of Education **Allen Boyette** Building Maintenance & Operations **Brooke Boyle** Transportation Office Kelly Brackett University Dining **Ronald Bradley** Office of Information Technology Scott Braswell University Housing **Dominic Brown** College of Engineering Ellen Buckner Environmental Health & Safety **Frank Buckless** College of Management Megan Cain College of Natural Resources and Waste Reduction & Recycling Danesha Carley Center for Integrated Pest Management **Alison Carpenter**

Transportation Office

Erin Champion Environmental Sciences Academic Program Al Chen College of Management **Kimberly Conley** Industrial Extension Service Rachel Conlev Sustainability Commission of Student Government and College of Natural Resources **Kevin Cummings** Repair & Renovation Alan Daeke Utilities & Engineering Services **Bill Davis** Energy Management **Jude Davis** Office of Information Technology **Emily Dell** Staff Senate **Francis De Los** Reves College of Engineering Kathy DeBusk College of Engineering Nate DeGraff College of Engineering **Kelley Dennings** NC Division of **Pollution Prevention** Joe DeCarolis College of Engineering **Dave DeMaster** *College of Physical* & Mathematical Sciences **Barbara Doll** NC Sea Grant **Corinne Dumonceau** College of Engineering

Lisa Eberhart University Dining Pete Evans College of Physical & Mathematical Sciences **Darren Fallis** Office of Information Technology **Rob Farrell** Libraries **Bob Farrell** Repair & Renovation **Kevin Fisher** Sunoco Recycling Pete Fraccaroli University Housing **Chris Frey** College of Engineering **Ariel Fugate** College of Natural Resources and Waste Reduction & Recycling Analis Fulghum Waste Reduction and Recvcling Wade Fulghum NC Solar Center Alan Galloway Office of Information Technology Noah Genzel Office of Information Technology Jennifer Gilmore University Dining Joshua Gira College of Natural Resources **Jenny Grant** RBC Bank Todd Gunderson Office of Information Technology Erik Hall Utilities & Engineering Services Natalie Hampton *College of Agricul*ture & Life Sciences

Michael Harwood

Centennial Campus Development **Tim Hatcher** Faculty Senate Shannon Helm NC Solar Center Jesse Henderson College of Natural Resources **Rich Henderson** Auduhon Environmental, Inc. Natasha Herting College of Engineering **Taylor Hescock** College of Natural Resources Raji Hewavita College of Natural Resources **David Hinks** *College of Textiles* **Darius Hinton** College of Agriculture & Life Sciences Kelly Hook College of Public & International Affairs Sam Hudson *College of Textiles* Joe Huegy Institute for Transportation Research & Education **Scott Jennings** Fleet Services James Jeuck College of Natural Resources Lisa Johnson Universitv Architect's Office **Tom Jones** Facilities Operations **Barry Joyce** Athletics **Tom Karches** Office of Information Technology

NC STATE UNIVERSITY CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 2010

.

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.

.....

.....

.

Laura Karpf **Brian Maxwell** Sustainability Com-Campus Recreation Kathy Kelly College of Agriculture & Life Sciences Sarah Ketchem Waste Reduction & Recycling Saad Khan College of Engineering Marcus King Environmental Health & Safety Bill Kinsella College of Humanities & Social Sciences Sarah Kirbv 4-H Youth Development & Family & Consumer Sciences Emma Klaus College of Engineering **Christine Klein** Transportation Patricia LaFrate Utilities & Engineering Services **Randy Lait** University Dining Tony Lawrence Office of Information Technology Yu-Fei Leung College of Natural Resources Kenneth Lill College of Engineering **George List** College of Engineering Sharon Loosman Purchasing Department John Martin Office of Information Technology **Brian Matthews** College of Education Lisa Maune Design & Construc-

mission of Student Government and College of Engineering Katie McKnight College of Natural Resources and Wolfpack Environmental Student Association **Rachel Miller** Capital Projects Management Daniel Minkler College of Engineering Tom Moore Repair and Renovation Sonum Nerurkar College of Natural Resources and Wolfpack Environmental Student Association Stan North Martin Office of Information Technology **Barry Olson** University Housing Ellen Orabone University Sustainability Office and *College of Agricul*ture & Life Sciences Joe O'Neil NC Solar Center Brian O'Sullivan Transportation Office Brian Parham *College of Agricul*ture & Life Sciences and Wolfpack Environmental Student Association **Charlie Parrish** Industrial Extension Service **Tracey Peake** News Services **Tim Peeler**

Matt Peterson

Inter-Residence Council and Environmental Sciences Wayne Place College of Design **Ewan Pritchard** Advanced Transportation Energy Center **Randy Reed** University Housekeeping Luis Rivera College of Management **Ed Rogers** Office of Information Technology Joe Roise College of Natural Resources John Roval College of Engineering **Tom Rufty** College of Agriculture & Life Sciences **Dawn Sanner** Centennial Campus Development Ken Satterwhite College of Veterinary Medicine Chadwick **Seagraves** Libraries **Ed Sekmistrz** Energy Management **Joseph Sevits** Libraries Rhonda Sherman Biological & Agricultural Engineering Extension Tom Skolnicki University Architect's Office Sarah Slover College of Natural Resources **George Smith** Building Maintenance & Operations

Keith Smith University Dining **Aubrey Southwell** Waste Reduction & Recycling **Jean Spooner** Biological & Agricultural Engineering Dona Stankus NC Solar Center John Stone College of Engineering Nessa Stone Waste Reduction & Recycling **Mande Swisher** University Sustainability Office and College of Natural Resources Laura Tavlor College of Management Zach Tolbert College of Public & International Affairs and Student Government Sustainability Commission **David Townsend** Grounds Management **Brandon Vann** Energy Management **Tom Wentworth** College of Agriculture & Life Sciences **Cody Williams** Alumni Relations **Gabrielle Willis** University Dining Patti Woodbury College of Natural Resources **Blain Woods** Purchasing Department **Jimmy Wright** Repair & Renovation **Maurice** York Libraries

NC STATE UNIVERSITY CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 2010

Athletics

tion Services

APPENDIX B **DESCRIPTION OF CONTROL OF CONTR**

ACUPCC	American College and University Presidents' Climate Commitment.	
BAU	Business As Usual	
САР	Climate Action Plan	
GHG	Greenhouse Gases	
MTCDE	Metric Tons of Carbon Dioxide Equivalent	
PEC	Progress Energy Carolinas, Inc.	
USGBC LEED	United States Green Building Council Leadership in Energy and	
	Environmental Design	
Abatement	A lessening or reduction	
Portfolio	A collection of strategies	
Scopes	gases (Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions from the University and	
	includes items such as fuels and refrigerants. Scope 2 emissions are	
	indirect emissions from purchased electricity, which in NC State	
	University's case is from PEC. Scope 3 emissions are also indirect emissions from activities such as commuting, air	
	travel and waste disposal)	
Wedges	A common way of grouping similar carbon abatement strategies	
94	NIC STATE I INTERCENTY CE MAATE ACTIVON DE AN ACCO	
24	NC STATE UNIVERSITY CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 2010	

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....





Total campus population forecasted through 2050.





MMBTU = A thousand thousand British Thermal Units

FIGURE 8

Total campus energy consumption forecasted through 2050.

NC STATE UNIVERSITY CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 2010

.

.....

.

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

•••••

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.

.....

.....

.

.....

.....

.....

.....

.....

.

.....

.....

.....

KFY

A. Improved Commuting B. Space Planning & Management

D. Grounds Management

E. Conservation Outreach/Behavior change

C. Campus Fleet

E Waste Diversion

D. ABATEMENT CURVE



NC State University Climate Action Plan 2010

27

with the thickest bars.

Appendix E

E. LONG-TERN PORTFOLIO



FIGURE 10

BIOMASS GASIFICATION FOR STEAM PRODUCTION

Figure 10 portrays the GHG reduction potential if biomass gasification is implemented on Centennial and Centennial Biomedical Campus in approximately 2025. Biomass gasification is a thermal conversion technology where a solid biomass fuel is converted into a combustible gas known as synthesis gas (syngas). In this case, it is assumed that the primary product of using the syngas would be steam with a small amount of electricity cogenerated using a steam turbine.

NC STATE UNIVERSITY CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 2010



FIGURE 11 Solid Waste Plasma Gasification with Cogeneration

Figure 11 portrays the GHG reduction potential if municipal solid waste (MSW) plasma gasification is implemented on Centennial and Centennial Biomedical Campus in approximately 2030. Plasma gasification of MSW is similar to biomass gasification in that the fuel, MSW, is heated to create a syngas. Organic materials are gasified to produce a usable syngas and residual materials such as inorganics and heavy metals are immobilized into a rock-like vitrified mass or slag. The syngas and residual heat from the process can be used in a series of heat recovery steam generators and turbines to produce both steam and electricity for use on campus.

.....

.....





FIGURE 12 Scope 1 (Natural Gas on Main Campus only) Reduction Long-term Portfolio Path

The energy supply options analyzed for this initial version of the CAP do not, for the most part, address any significant decrease in the natural gas combusted for steam production on main campus. While renewable energy options such as biomass gasification and plasma gasification of MSW were considered for Centennial and CBC campuses, these alternatives were not modeled for potential implementation on main campus due to such factors as plant location, space availability, fuel delivery traffic, and the overall scale required of such a project to replace natural gas usage on main campus. Natural gas combustion for steam and/or power production will be a large portion of the University's potential GHG footprint in the future and this source of emissions cannot be ignored.

Figure 12 shows the projected GHG emissions from natural gas combustion on main campus to illustrate the magnitude of these emissions relative to the overall footprint and convey the importance of making efforts to reduce these emissions over time. Continued monitoring of technologies with the potential to replace natural gas-based steam and power production at NC State is required. Those technologies will be considered as they become technically feasible.

......

.....

.....

.

.....

.

CONTACT INFORMATION

UNIVERSITY SUSTAINABILITY OFFICE

Lindsay Batchelor, Program Coordinator Tracy Dixon, Director David Dean, Outreach Coordinator

CAMPUS ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY TEAM

Jack K. Colby, CEST Co-Chair Assistant Vice Chancellor for Facilities Operations Co-Sustainability Officer CEST Co-Chair

William E. Winner, CEST Co-Chair Professor, Department of Forestry and Environmental Resources Coordinator, Environmental Sciences Academic Program Coordinator, University Energy Council Co-Sustainability Officer CEST Co-Chair

MAILING ADDRESS

NC State University Sustainability Office Campus Box 7536 Raleigh, NC 27695-7536

919-513-3337 climate_impact@ncsu.edu sustainability.ncsu.edu

PHYSICAL ADDRESS

Administrative Services III 2701 Sullivan Dr.

ELECTRONIC AVAILABILITY

This document is available online at sustainability.ncsu.edu. Minimal copies were printed to reduce resource use. Please think twice before printing it.

PRINT AVAILABILITY

50 copies of this public document were printed for distribution to University administrators. The document was printed on 100% post consumer recycled, chlorine free paper that is Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) certified.

FEEDBACK

Feedback on this document is welcome at climate_impact@ncsu.edu

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY STATEMENT

NC State University is dedicated to equality of opportunity. The University does not condone discrimination against students, employees or applicants in any form. NC State commits itself to positive action to secure equal opportunity regardless of race, color, creed, national origin, religion, sex, age or disability. In addition, NC State welcomes all persons without regard to sexual orientation.